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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Pensacola lighthouse consists of a conical tower 
constructed of brick; the focal plane of its lantern was 160 
feet above ground level in 1859. An early photograph dating 
from the Civil War indicates that the tower was at that time 
painted entirely white. An illustration made from a photo­ 
graph dating from about 1877 indicates that the present bichro- 
matic scheme had been adopted by that time. The double hung 
6 over 6 sash windows in the tower are small and recessed. The 
window surrounds are header bricks which project perhaps two 
inches. The window lintels appear to be made of granite. At 
the top of the conical tower are several bands of bricks which 
have been stepped gradually to accommodate the catwalk and lantejrn 
housing. The latter consists of three tiers of glass panes 
mounted in metal ribs.

Attached to the lighthouse is a keeper's dwelling and an­ 
other passageway structure. The keeper's dwelling was erected 
in 1Q&9. In 1877, a tornado which struck in the area of the 
lighthouse tore the slate roof off the keeper's house; shingles 
were used in replacing the roof. The Keeper's Quarters, as it 
survives today, is a two-story building with sash windows and 
extensive two-story gallerie. Porch posts are square in section 
with plain capitals and simple balustrade. The building has a 
ridge roof with end gables and a heavily bracketed raking 
cornice. Four chimneys with double flues rise from the gable 
ends of the roof.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Although the area possessed an excellent harbor, the port 
facilities at Pensacola were minimal when Florida became a 
United States Territory in 1821. During its first session in 
1822, the Florida Legislative Council sent to President James 
Monroe a request for the construction of a federal naval depot 
at Pensacola. The proposal was well received in Washington 
due to current interest in the Caribbean area and in the Spanish 
American colonies which had recently declared their independence 
A U.S. naval base on the Gulf Coast was therefore a highly 
desirable objective; a lighthouse would be needed for that 
establishment and-would, of course, be useful to trade and com­ 
merce in the area as well.

In 11*23, the U.S. Congress appropriated $6000 for the 
construction of a lighthouse for Pensacola. The contract for 
the structure was awarded on April 13, 1824, to Winslow Lewis,

famous designer of lighthouses. The lighthouse was to *be 
uilt at the south entrance to Pensacola Bay. It was erected 
here during the fall of 182^ and on December 20, it was 
lighted for the first time. The lantern of this lighthouse 
was eighty feet above the sea level; the method of lighting 
used was the soon-to-be-outdated Argand lamp with parabolic 
reflectors. Both the height of the tower and the strength 
of the light provided by its lantern proved to be unsatis­ 
factory.

In 1837, an inspector of lighthouses visited the site and 
recommended it be moved to a higher place. The next year, 
another inspector suggested "removing the present light-house 
to the height between the old Fort Barrancas and the Oaks" as 
Dart of a scheme to improve the lighting of Pensacola harbor. 
Nothing was done to implement these ideas, however. Perhaps 
one reason lay in the fact that, due to poor connections with 
the interior, the nearby town of Pensacola was not yet the 
booming commercial center which it later became. However, 
Dcean-going commerce was important to the town, and the light- 
icuse was a significant aid to the economic development of the 
rea.
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During the Mexican War, £he as yet uncompleted naval station 
at Pensacola served as the base of the American Gulf and Caribbean 
fleet. Of course, the lighthouse was important in the maneuvers 
of ships at that time.

In 1851, Congress initiated a sweeping investigation of the 
U.S. lighthouse administration, with which there was growing 
dissatisfaction. The inspection of the Pensacola lighthouse at 
that time revealed that its light was "deficient in power." Two 
years later, the naval station commandant recommended to the 
authorities that the height of the light be raised 20-25 feet so 
that it could be seen over the tops of the nearby pine trees. 
In 185-4, Congress appropriated $25,000 for the rebuilding of the 
lighthouse and for the elevating of the light. Another $30,000 
was appropriated for the same purpose in 1856. In 1858, a new 
tower was erected on the north side of the bay's entrance; at 
the time of its construction, it was 160 feet above the ground and 
210 feet above sea level. On January 1, 1859, the first order 
revolving light was put into service. It is this lighthouse 
which is now standing on Pensacola Bay.

The new lighthouse was soon the scene of military activities. 
When the Civil War began, a company of artillery was the only 
contingent of federal troops holding the naval station; they were 
stationed at Barrancas Barracks, just to the east of the light­ 
house. On January 10, 1861, the day on which Florida seceded from 
the Union,--those troops evacuated the mainland and removed to 
nearby Santa Rosa Island. Confederate troops then established 
themselves near the lighthouse site. In November, 1861, federal 
bombardment of Forts McRee and Barrancas and the Confederate gun 
batteries in the vicinity of the lighthouse resulted in damage 
to that structure. Direct hits by solid shot put the light out 
of order.

In 1866, the lighthouse board began to take steps to re­ 
establish the light at Pensacola. The next year, the U.S. 
Congress voted $20,000 for its repair and renovation, but it was 
18^9 before the lighthouse was restored to working order. Several 
years later, in 1878, cracks appeared inside the tower beneath 
the lantern which occasioned further repairs. Presumably, these 
cracks were belated effects of the Civil War shelling. Funds 
for repairs were made available in 1879.

The significance of the Pensacola lighthouse from the end 
of the Civil War to the present has been related primarily to the 
commercial development of the area and to sea-going transportatior
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in that area. The two Pensacola lighthouses, one serving from 
1824 to 1859 and the other from 1859 to the present, together 
have provided signal and sentinel services for the Pensacola 
area for almost-as long as Florida has been part of the United 
States of America.
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